Municipality of North Cowichan Special Council AGENDA

Monday, February 22, 2021, 6:00 p.m. Electronically

Pages

1. CALL TO ORDER

This meeting, though electronic, is open to the public. All representations to Council will form part of the public record. Proceedings will be streamed live and archived at www.northcowichan.ca. Members of the public may join this online meeting and participate virtually during the Public Input and Question Period portions of the agenda.

- To join by computer, smartphone, or tablet, visit northcowichan.ca/virtualmeeting for instructions.
- To join by telephone, dial 1.844.426.4405, enter the meeting ID **141 840 0054**, and then press # to join the meeting.

APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Recommendation:

That Council approve the agenda as circulated [or as amended].

PUBLIC INPUT

Public Input is an opportunity for the public to provide their feedback on matters included on the agenda. The maximum number of speakers to be heard during the public input period is limited to five, with a maximum of three minutes allotted to each speaker. To be added to the speakers list, please:

- click on the 'raise your hand' button, if participating by computer, smartphone, or tablet, or
- dial *3 on your phone

4. BUSINESS

4.1. North Cowichan Environmental Policy and Regulation Review

3 - 41

<u>Purpose</u>: To present the findings and recommendations of the North Cowichan Environmental Policy and Regulation Review.

5. **NEW BUSINESS**

6. QUESTION PERIOD

Question Period is an opportunity for the public to ask brief questions regarding the business discussed during the meeting. To be added to the speakers list, please:

- click on the 'raise your hand' button, if participating by computer, smartphone, or tablet, or
- dial *3 on your phone

7. CLOSED SESSION

8. ADJOURNMENT

Recommendation:

That Council adjourn the Special Council meeting at ____ p.m.

Report



Date February 22, 2021 File: SP00072

То Council

From Rob Conway, Director, Planning and Building **Endorsed:**

Subject North Cowichan Environmental Policy and Regulation Review

Purpose

To present the findings and recommendations of the North Cowichan Environmental Policy and Regulation Review.

Background

At the February 19, 2020, Council meeting, the following resolution was passed:

That Council direct staff to prepare a high-level report that (1) provides an inventory of North Cowichan's current environmental protection policies; (2) identifies related issues and opportunities; and (3) recommends a process for strengthening environmental protection policies as part of the rewrite of the Official Community Plan (OCP); and that potential focus areas include the prevention of unauthorized land clearing; maintenance of natural hydrological functions and erosion prevention; prevention of nutrient/pollutants getting into storm drains and natural watercourses; noxious and invasive weeds; Garry oak ecosystem protection; wildlife habitat protection; urban forest enhancement; greenways protection/creation; and pesticide herbicide use.

Diamond Head Consulting was hired to review North Cowichan's environmental regulations and policy, with support from the Planning and Building Department and the Environmental Division of the Engineering Department. The environmental policy and regulation review results are presented in the North Cowichan Environmental and Policy Review Final Report (Attachment 1).

Discussion

The objective of the review was to identify opportunities to improve, clarify and enhance North Cowichan's environmental policy and regulation, as well as identify actions for strengthening North Cowichan's environmental leadership.

The report provides 11 "high-level" recommendations. The report's implementation section suggests how the recommendations can be prioritized and estimates the level of effort and resourcing implications for each of the recommendations. Staff intend to use the report as a resource and guide for developing and updating environmental policy in the new OCP and other upcoming projects such as the Zoning Bylaw and Subdivision Bylaw reviews. The report's recommendations will also be considered and brought forward as part of the annual business planning process as funding and resourcing opportunities allow.

Implications

The report identifies several actions North Cowichan can take to protect the environment better and take a leadership role in environmental stewardship. Acting on the recommendations will require a commitment of resourcing for policy and bylaw development, public education, bylaw enforcement and administration.

Recommendation

For Council's information.

Attachment 1 - North Cowichan Environmental Policy and Regulation Review

North Cowichan Environmental Policy and Regulation Review



February 16, 2021

Submitted to:

Rob Conway Municipality of North Cowichan



Executive summary

Diamond Head Consulting was engaged to review North Cowichan's environmental policies and regulations. The objective of this review is to identify opportunities that will position North Cowichan as a leader in municipal environmental policies and regulation. A total of 32 policies and bylaws were reviewed to identify weaknesses and opportunities to strengthen the municipality's policies so that they comply with current best management practices and align with other local governments. This report summarizes the findings and recommendations from this review.

North Cowichan's current environmental policies and regulations provide the municipality with a strong basis for environmental protection. The successful implementation of these recommendations will require careful considerations to ensure that sufficient staffing and adequate resources are provided for effective implementation, communications with the public and bylaw enforcement. Detailed recommendations to update, clarify and strengthen existing policies and regulations are made Appendices 1 and 2.

The following high-level recommendations provide an overview of actions that the municipality could take in order to strengthen its environmental leadership over the coming years. They include:

- **Recommendation 1.** Provide consistent definitions across DPs/bylaws/etc. Alternatively, refer to a document where all definitions can be referenced and updated.
- **Recommendation 2.** Update bylaws to keep definitions, references to, and requirements consistent with current federal and provincial legislation. Examples of legislation that has been updated in recent years includes the federal Fisheries Act; provincial Riparian Areas Protection Regulation; Water Sustainability Act; and Environmental Management Act.
- **Recommendation 3.** Update and publish mapping to clearly and accurately show DP areas. Use a combination of desktop techniques (i.e., LiDAR and accurate contour data) and ground truthing for best accuracy.
- **Recommendation 4.** Review DPA guidelines to ensure that broad, difficult to enforce ideas are included in the objectives, with specific requirements under the guidelines. For example, guideline 3.4.2.h of the Natural Environment DPA 3 states "Protect and enhance biodiversity within terrestrial ecosystems". This is more of a goal than a quantifiable measure.
- **Recommendation 5.** Define professional qualification requirements in existing bylaws and consider consolidating those requirements into the Development Procedure Bylaw's development approval information. There are inconsistencies across a number of bylaws/DPAs as to required designations.
- **Recommendation 6.** Review watercourse protection in the municipality:
 - Disconnected features (which are not protected by RAPR), are currently protected in the Municipality's zoning bylaw, however, the values behind their

- protection are not clear. The intent of this should be reviewed and guidelines provided to developers and QEPs. For example, it's unclear if section 13.1.c of the zoning bylaw is intended to protect amphibian habitat, sources of water for people or wildlife, or for stormwater management.
- Consider increasing the setback requirements for streams. Many municipalities choose to develop additional watercourse setbacks above and beyond the RAPR requirements. Often this includes measuring setbacks from the top of bank instead of the stream boundary. However, this would require additional review and resources at the Municipality's level, as the Municipality would be reviewing QEP reports as opposed to relying on the province.
- **Recommendation 7.** Use the Official Community Plan engagement findings to confirm support for new or updated policy that protects environmental values. Consider additional engagement for any policies that are new or contentious.
- **Recommendation 8.** Develop restoration guidelines for development impacts or encroachment in protected natural areas or riparian setbacks. These should be placed in the Development Permit Area 3 Guidelines and become a requirement of development.
- **Recommendation 9.** Review the list of "absent" policies and regulations identified in this review to determine which are needed in North Cowichan. Prioritize their development and implementation in a way that best represents the values and needs of the community. For instance:
 - Consider developing guiding environmental policies that will provide a framework for bylaw and DP updates. Examples include a Biodiversity Strategy and Community Forest Strategy.
- **Recommendation 10.** Consider introducing tree protection measures through a tree bylaw and/or the subdivision approval process to prevent unnecessary tree clearing.
- **Recommendation 11.** Review staffing and resourcing needs to improve North Cowichan's capacity to implement, communicate and enforce current bylaws and regulations.

7

Table of Contents

1.0	ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY REVIEW FRAMEWORK	1
1.1	Comprehensive Bylaw/Regulation Review	1
1.2	High-Level Policy Gap Analysis	1
2.0	KEY RECOMMENDATIONS	2
2.1	The Role of Municipalities for Environmental Management	2
2.2	An Assessment of North Cowichan's Current Environmental Policies & Regulations	2
2.3	Opportunities for Leadership	5
3.0	IMPLEMENTATION PLAN	8
4.0	APPENDIX 1 – COMPREHENSIVE BYLAW/REGULATION REVIEW	1
4.1	Zoning Bylaw 2950	1
4.2	DPA 2 Marine Waterfront	2
4.3	DPA 3 Natural Environment	3
4.4	DPA 4 Natural Hazard	7
4.5	Subdivision Bylaw 1851	8
4.6	Parks & Public Places Regulation Bylaw 3626	9
4.7	Soil Removal and Deposit Bylaw, 2009	10
5.0	APPENDIX 2 – HIGH-LEVEL POLICY GAP ANALYSIS	12
5.1	Bylaws	12
5.2	Management Plans	17
5.3	Local Area Plans	19
5.4	Policies & Plans	19

1.0 Environmental Policy Review Framework

The Municipality of North Cowichan retained Diamond Head Consulting (DHC) to review their environmental policies and regulations and to provide recommendations to improve, clarify and strengthen them. This report summarizes our team's findings from the detailed review into a set of high-level recommendations and implementation plan which are discussed in the following sections.

Policies and regulations were reviewed at two levels of detail. A high level review was completed for 32 environmental policies, bylaws and regulations. A more comprehensive and detailed review was completed for a smaller number of bylaws and regulations that are central to the Municipality's management of the environment. Detailed recommendations for all policies and regulations reviewed are provided in Appendices 1 and 2.

1.1 Comprehensive Bylaw/Regulation Review

The comprehensive review focused on the following bylaws and regulations:

- Environmental setbacks in the Zoning Bylaw 2950
- Development Permit Area 2 Marine Waterfront
- Development Permit Area 3 Natural Environment
- Development Permit Area 4 Natural Hazard
- Relevant sections of Subdivision Bylaw 1851
- Parks & Public Places Regulation Bylaw
- Soil Removal and Deposit Bylaw

For each bylaw and regulation subject to detailed review, the project team considered the following:

- 1. The intent and objectives of the bylaw or regulation
- 2. High level recommendations to:
 - a. Bring it to current standards/best practices, including:
 - i. Consistency with current Provincial and Federal regulations and requirements
 - ii. Appropriateness of information requirements
 - b. Improve its effectiveness to achieve the stated intent and objectives, including:
 - i. Effective triggers for the application of the regulations
 - ii. Clear, detailed, and impactful requirements under the regulation
 - iii. Appropriate enforcement mechanisms suited to the Municipality's staffing and resourcing
- 3. Recommendations to improve specific content and wording in the bylaw or regulation

1.2 High-Level Policy Gap Analysis

In addition to the comprehensive review of key bylaws and regulations, a broader gap analysis was completed for a number of other bylaws, regulations, plans and policies that affect how the municipality

managed the natural environment. Staff identified 25 policies and regulations to include in this review. This gap analysis was completed to determine how the following environmental elements are addressed in each policy:

- Natural Environments
 - o Freshwater
 - Terrestrial
 - o Marine
- Risk associated with natural areas
- Climate change and energy
- Monitoring and enforcement

During this high-level review, the project team:

- 1. Evaluated the effectiveness of the policies or regulations to address the environmental elements. Identified gaps, weaknesses and out-of-date components,
- 2. Provided high level recommendations to address identified deficiencies, and
- 3. Identified opportunities for leadership by improving and adding environmental policies.

2.0 Key Recommendations

2.1 The Role of Municipalities for Environmental Management

Municipalities are limited in their ability to protect and enhance environmental features. They have jurisdiction over municipal-owned lands but are limited in their role to influence how private lands are managed. Opportunities are often restricted to when development takes place. Municipalities with strong environmental regulations typically include requirements for development permits when proposing projects adjacent to marine foreshore areas, watercourses, and sensitive terrestrial ecosystems. These DPs, when designed well, will ensure development will not impact these areas and can provide the opportunity for the municipality to acquire some areas. The acquisition of sensitive environmental lands allows municipalities to ensure they are best protected over the long term.

Other policies that are effective at protecting the environment focus on the protection of trees. Trees are a fundamental element of most terrestrial natural areas. Protecting them helps to ensure that natural ecosystems are also protected. The protection of trees is usually enforced through a tree bylaw as well as tree protection and replacement requirements within subdivision and zoning bylaws.

2.2 An Assessment of North Cowichan's Current Environmental Policies & Regulations

North Cowichan has a strong foundation of environmental policy. There are however opportunities to strengthen existing policies and introduce new ones to further the Municipality's goals on environmental leadership. The District's Development Permit Areas help to reduce the impact of development on sensitive ecosystems. However, there are changes that, if implemented, would improve these DPAs. There is also a lack of regulation to prevent tree removal during development.

As requirements to environmental protection are strengthened there is a need for resources to review, approve and enforce them. The ability for the Municipality to demonstrate environmental leadership with its regulations is closely tied to its ability to enforce them.

The District emphasizes the protection of environmental values in its Official Community Plan, Local Areas Plans and recent plans like the Parks and Trails Master Plan. The ongoing OCP review will provide a great opportunity for the Municipality to strengthen its vision and values for the management of the natural environment. Initiatives such as the Somenos Marsh Wildlife Strategic Plan are also a great example of collaborative management of a sensitive ecosystem taking place in North Cowichan.

The following updates to existing policies and regulations are recommended to clarify and strengthen North Cowichan's environmental leadership.

Updating DPA Mapping and Development Guidelines

The environmental DPAs provide excellent framework for mitigating the impacts of development. They can be improved by ensuring definitions are consistent and that references to other legislation are up to date. The requirements for the protection and restoration of sensitive areas should be updated. also be added and standards provided for development related impacts. The mapping for these DPs should also be updated. The technology of mapping has greatly improved and allows for features in these DPs and their setbacks to be clearly mapped, providing clarity to staff and landowners¹.

Watercourse Protection

Watercourse protection in North Cowichan meets the minimum requirements under the provincial Riparian Areas Protection Regulation (RAPR). The province requires municipalities take a "meet or beat" approach for riparian areas regulations. Many municipalities choose to provide additional measures for watercourse protection under their own jurisdiction. Most of these municipalities are in the Lower Mainland, providing North Cowichan with the chance to be a leader in this on Vancouver Island. RAPR requires additional measures beyond the Streamside Protection and Enhancement Area (SPEA) to ensure slope stability and stable, healthy riparian trees. Municipalities can, and often do, chose to define setbacks measured back from the top of bank instead of the stream boundary, as a way to preemptively consider these measures within the municipal DP or zoning bylaw setback.

The current zoning bylaw in North Cowichan defines the terms watercourse and stream. The term stream matches the definition under RAPR, while the term watercourse captures additional watercourses not protected under RAPR. The use of both terms can be confusing when defined in the zoning bylaw but used in other legislation such as the Natural Environment DP 3. The use of these two terms should be reviewed to determine if North Cowichan intends to only protect streams under RAPR (i.e., streams related to their fish value) or to also protect other watercourses (such as non connected

¹ Environmental Law Centre. (2016). *EDPAs: In Practice and in Caselaw – March 2016.* Prepared for the University of Victoria.

wetlands and ponds) for additional values beyond fish habitat (e.g., stormwater management, amphibian habitat, etc.).

Legislative References & Professional Qualifications Requirements

Many legislative references in North Cowichan's environmental regulations are outdated and reference previous versions of provincial legislation. Detailed recommendations appended to this report identify bylaws that should be updated to match the current legislative requirements (ex. federal Fishers Act, Water Sustainability Act, Riparian Areas Protection Regulation, etc.).

In addition, several regulations refer to using appropriately qualified professionals; however, they do not clearly define which studies should be undertaken by the various types of professionals. Some references are also made to outdated or undefined qualifications. Clearly defining professional qualification requirements would ensure a consistent quality level for submissions made to the municipality. An example of a vague qualification currently used in the District's policy is "coastal professional." This could be clarified to a professional designation such as Professional Engineer, Professional Biologist, etc. It could be further refined with qualifiers such as a Professional Engineer specialising in coastal engineering. Some municipalities require that the professional provide a summary with the submission proving their qualifications and experience.

Restoration Guidelines

Restoration of disturbed areas or areas taken over by invasive plants is critical for ensuring the long term health of urban natural areas. Currently, North Cowichan relies on its Untidy and Unsightly Premises Bylaw to identify and regulate the removal of noxious weeds on private property. There are no requirements in other environmental policies to manage invasive species. The Natural Environment DP 3 states "development activity to avoid encroaching into protected areas"; however, it does not provide direction around what to do if development does encroach, or if there was encroachment prior to development.

Clear restoration guidelines would help homeowners and developers understand what is expected of them to maintain the integrity of natural forested and riparian areas that are within or adjacent to their properties. They would also specify how to compensate for encroachment or development related impacts. Restoration guidelines should include the removal of non-compliant structures, unauthorized fill, invasive species, and garbage, and replanting with native trees and understory vegetation. Restoration plans are developed and submitted by a QEP to ensure they meet the District's expectations.

Maintenance and monitoring are required to ensure restoration sites are successful. Typically, a fee estimate would be developed as part of the restoration plan including the costs of carrying out the restoration plan works, as well as maintenance and monitoring. This fee estimate would then be used to develop a security/bond, which would be released upon successful restoration at the end of the maintenance period. Typically, municipalities require 100% survival of trees, at least 80% survival of

understory species, and a maximum of 5% invasive plant species by the end of the monitoring period (typically 3 years). The property owner is required to hire a QEP to complete the monitoring and determine if the restoration requirements have been met. If not, additional maintenance will be required until they are met in order to return the security. This ensures that the developer covers the costs of the operations and provides the municipality with the funds to address insufficient restoration work if necessary.

2.3 Opportunities for Leadership

This section outlines a few key areas where the Municipality could demonstrate environmental leadership by pursuing new environmental policies or regulation initiatives. The opportunities for leadership identified in this review include the management of invasive species, improvements to the protection and restoration of ecosystems and their connectivity, the protection of trees within the urban containment boundary, and public support and bylaw enforcement.

Invasive Species Management

Many plans and policies refer to the importance of managing invasive species. Currently the District has an invasive species management agreement with the Province who provides an annual grant to fund control measures on public land. The District determines priority species and creates an annual work plan in consultation with provincial Invasive Plant Specialists and stakeholders at regional meetings. Regional meetings ensure the District's approach is consistent with efforts undertaken by neighbouring jurisdictions. The District uses the provincial Invasive Alien Plant Program (IAPP) mapping platform to maintain inventory and treatment data records.

The District's Unsightly Premises Bylaw places the duty on all landowners to control invasive species listed in the BC *Weed Control Act* growing on private property. This is the only regulatory tool available to the municipality to enforce the control of invasive plants on private property. There may be other priority local invasive plant species which are not listed in the BC *Weed Control Act* that the municipality may wish to consider adding to the bylaw. However, enforcement of such a bylaw can be time consuming and costly; generally, municipalities only resort to this approach in the case of the highest risk invasive species which are already subject to municipality-wide treatment programs on public land. Two common examples of such species in the south coast are giant hogweed and knotweed species.

Preventing the introduction and spread of invasive species is the most cost effective and efficient way to minimize negative impacts. There are opportunities for prevention across municipal departments and through increased public awareness. Conducting a risk assessment of the priority species the Municipality has already identified to explore modes of introduction and spread would ensure that the Municipality is doing all it can internally toward prevention and would identify targeted opportunities for increasing public awareness of the problem. The Municipality should continue to work with other local governments to support a regional approach to invasive species management.

Ecosystem Management and Connectivity

Several bylaws and policies refer to the importance of protecting as well as connecting sensitive ecosystems together in North Cowichan. It can be difficult for QEPs to comply with this policy without some landscape level understanding of which areas are most important as core habitat and as movement corridors.

There area steps already underway to develop a Biodiversity Protection Policy. Protecting biodiversity usually includes the protection of a diversity of habitat and ensuring that they are connected together. As a part of this Policy, it is recommended that some spatial mapping be completed that shows habitat types, the value of those areas and critical movement corridors to be protected. There may also be opportunities to collaborate with regional habitat mapping initiatives.

Land Clearing Pre-Development & Tree Protection During Development

There is currently a Landscaping Policy which enables staff to collect securities and require a tree preservation and protection plan as well as arborist supervision for development permits, subdivisions and parks, trails and public rights of way. However, under current regulations land clearing often occurs years before the land is developed. This can lead to unnecessary tree clearing in cases where development does not proceed, or where sites are left bare for long periods of time. This can lead to erosion and the proliferation of invasive plants.

The municipality should consider regulatory provisions to prevent pre-emptive land clearing associated with subdivisions. This could be achieved either through updates to the Subdivision Bylaw, or the adoption of a Tree Protection Bylaw. Additional measures to ensure tree protection and replacement may be warranted if there is community support, particularly within the Urban Containment Boundary.

Based on the community values expressed through the ongoing OCP update process, the municipality may also wish to consider developing a Community Forest Strategy. Such a Strategy could provide the municipality with a clear vision, goals and performance standards for the management of its community forest, including but not limited to considerations for a tree bylaw.

The development of a Tree Protection Bylaw would help manage phased tree removals, tree protection and replacement, especially within the Urban Containment Boundary. However, adequate staffing would be required to administer and enforce such a bylaw. Staff are currently finding enforcement difficult. As such, a successful tree bylaw requires that strong enforcement measures be enabled and funded appropriately. This could include provisions such as the ability to recover the cost of unpaid fees and actions taken under the bylaw as arrears of taxes, as well as funding to pursue legal action under the Offence Act for major bylaw contraventions where owners remain uncooperative.

Public Support & Enforcement

In addition to the adoption or updating of environmental policies and regulations, the District can strengthen its environmental leadership through public education and consultation. Bylaws are an important way to manage the environmental values found across the Municipality Much of natural assets found in North Cowichan are found of private property. As a result, it is important to ensure that environmental regulations respond to community values. The process of updating or adopting new regulations provides an opportunity for the Municipality to work closely with community members and developers.

In addition, adequate resources including staffing will be required to enable the enforcement of new environmental regulations. Penalties can be used as a deterrent. Bylaw provisions can also require oversight by qualified professional contactors. Public education can also provide a valuable tool to improve implementation outcomes.

3.0 Implementation Plan

Table 1 introduces an implementation plan for eleven high-level recommendations formulated as a result of this policy review. Recommendations are prioritized based on the importance of the updates and the expected level of efforts associated with their implementation. Resourcing considerations are included with regards to staffing needs and external consultant resources which are expected to be required for their implementation.

While good policies and regulations play an important role in the environmental leadership of municipalities, resourcing is also a key consideration to enable their implementation. For instance, research on tree ordinances in the US has identified many criteria for the effective regulation which provides helpful insights of the implementation of environmental regulations². The research points to the importance of regulations to relate to clearly defined goals and basic performance standards, often defined in higher-level policies such as the OCP or management strategies or plans. It also highlights the importance of the implementation process to enable the proper enforcement of regulations with a designated staff member responsible for its implementation, and flexibility in the implementation to allow for site-specific decisions to be made. Finally, the research points to the importance of community support and the alignment of the regulation with community values and priorities as a key factor in the successful implementation of regulations.

Staff have noted ongoing challenges with enforcement of bylaws, particularly as it relates to development and property maintenance. Updated or new regulations should provide staff with adequate provisions to enable their enforcement. The municipality will also need to carefully consider staffing levels to ensure that they are and remain adequate to enable the proper implementation of its regulations.

The ongoing OCP update offers a good opportunity for the Municipality to ensure that policy and regulatory updates align with community values. In addition, the Municipality should ensure that public education is provided to engage and inform community members about updates to existing regulations or new regulations being drafted.

² Bernhardt, E.; Swiecki, T. J. (1991). *Guidelines for developing and evaluating tree ordinances*. Prepared for: Urban Forestry Program, California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection, Sacramento, CA. 76 p. (Download from UFEI site)

Nichols, S., (2007). *Urban Tree Conservation: a White Paper on Local Ordinance Approaches*. Montgomery Tree Committee, Montgomery, Alabama

Table 1. Implementation plan for high-level recommendations.

Actions/Recommendations	Priority (short-, med- or long-term)	Level of Effort (Low, moderate or high)	Resourcing implications (Staff/consultant)
Recommendation 1. Provide consistent definitions across DPs/bylaws/etc. Alternatively, refer to a document where all definitions can be referenced and updated.	S	Low	Staff time
Recommendation 2. Update bylaws to keep definitions, references to, and requirements consistent with current federal and provincial legislation. Examples of legislation that has been updated in recent years includes the federal Fisheries Act; provincial Riparian Areas Protection Regulation; Water Sustainability Act; and Environmental Management Act.	S	Low	Staff time
Recommendation 3. Update and publish mapping to clearly and accurately show DP areas. Use a combination of desktop techniques (i.e., LiDAR and accurate contour data) and ground truthing for best accuracy.	М	High	Staff time; Support from consultant
Recommendation 4. Review DPA guidelines to ensure that broad, difficult to enforce ideas are included in the objectives, with specific requirements under the guidelines. For example, guideline 3.4.2.h of the Natural Environment DPA 3 states "Protect and enhance biodiversity within terrestrial ecosystems". This is more of a goal than a quantifiable measure.	S	Low to moderate	Staff time; Support from consultant
Recommendation 5. Define professional qualification requirements in existing bylaws and consider consolidating those requirements into the Development Procedure Bylaw's development approval information. There are inconsistencies across a number of bylaws/DPAs as to required designations.	S	Low	Staff time
Recommendation 6. Review watercourse protection in the municipality: • Disconnected features (which are not protected by RAPR), are currently protected in the Municipality's zoning bylaw, however their protection are not clear. The intent of this should be reviewed and guidelines provided to	М	Moderate	Staff time; Support from consultant

Actions/Recommendations	Priority (short-, med- or long-term)	Level of Effort (Low, moderate or high)	Resourcing implications (Staff/consultant)
developers and QEPs. For example, it's unclear if section 13.1.c of the zoning bylaw is intended to protect amphibian habitat, sources of water for people or wildlife, or for stormwater management.			
 Consider increasing the setback requirements for streams. Many municipalities choose to develop additional watercourse setbacks above and beyond the RAPR requirements. Often this includes measuring setbacks from the top of bank instead of the stream boundary. However, this would require additional review and resources at the Municipality's level, as the Municipality would be reviewing QEP reports as opposed to relying on the province. 			
Recommendation 7. Use the Official Community Plan engagement findings to confirm support for new or updated policy that protects environmental values. Consider additional engagement for any policies that are new or contentious.	S/M	Moderate	Staff time; potential support from consultants
Recommendation 8. Develop restoration guidelines for development impacts or encroachment in protected natural areas or riparian setbacks. These should be placed in the Development Permit Area 3 Guidelines and become a requirement of development.	М	Moderate	Staff time; Support from consultants
Recommendation 9. Review the list of "missing" policies and regulations identified in this review to determine which are needed in North Cowichan, and prioritize their development and implementation in a way that best represents the values and needs of the community. For instance:	L	High	Staff time; Support from consultant
 Consider developing guiding environmental policies that will provide a framework for bylaw and DP updates. Examples include a Biodiversity Strategy and Community Forest Strategy. 			

Actions/Recommendations	Priority (short-, med- or long-term)	Level of Effort (Low, moderate or high)	Resourcing implications (Staff/consultant)
Recommendation 10. Consider introducing tree protection measures through a tree bylaw and/or the subdivision approval process to prevent unnecessary tree clearing.	М	High	New staff; Support from consultant
Recommendation 11. Review staffing and resourcing needs to improve North Cowichan's capacity to implement, communicate and enforce current bylaws and regulations.	М	Moderate	Staff time; Support from consultant

4.0 Appendix 1 – Comprehensive Bylaw/Regulation Review

4.1 Zoning Bylaw 2950

Intent and objectives

The Zoning Bylaw regulates how land and structures may be used. Zoning may include regulations for building siting, size location and shape. For environmental considerations, it can establish setbacks from sensitive features. The Zoning Bylaw provides a tool to establish and enforce environmental setbacks, while DPAs remain better suited to protect environmental features from damage. Specific to environmental considerations, this Bylaw regulates how water features are protected and includes the environmental DP guidelines.

High level recommendations

Overall, the intent of this Zoning Bylaw is to provide definitions for water features, the required assessment area and to specify and enforce the required setbacks and protection mechanisms for them. The following are broad recommendations to update it and improve its effectiveness:

- Update all references to Provincial legislation. Currently, this bylaw refers to Riparian Areas
 Regulation and the Fisheries Act. However, the current legislation is the Riparian Areas
 Protection Regulation (RAPR) and the Water Sustainability Act (WSA). In addition, there have
 been several updates to the Environmental Management Act in recent years, particularly with
 reference to contaminated sites.
- Choose one term be used and defined in the same way it is in the Provincial policy for water features. There are currently multiple terms used to refer to water features (i.e. stream and watercourse). Definitions should be consistent and be based on the definition in RAPR which uses the term "Stream".
- 3. Section 13.1.c states that, in addition to marine setbacks and water features protected under RAPR, there be a 15m setback from "any other watercourse or source of water supply, excluding wells." This is quite broad and could include a number of smaller non connected features that could hold up development or require a variance. The intent of this statement should be identified, and wording adjusted accordingly.

Specific Recommendations for Improvement

The following are recommended updates and considerations within each section of the zoning bylaw:

Section - 12 - Definitions

- 84 (page 9) Add reference to the ocean in this definition.
- 121.1 This definition should be amended to be consistent with that of RAPR:
 - o a watercourse or body of water, whether or not usually containing water, and
 - o any of the following that is connected by surface flow to a watercourse or body of water referred to in paragraph (a):

- a ditch, whether or not usually containing water;
- a spring, whether or not usually containing water;
- a wetland:
- 132 The definition of watercourse could be removed. There is no definition in the WSA or RAPR for a watercourse even through it is used within the definition of a stream. We recommend using one of these two terms. Stream is most common and is used by RAPR.

Part 4 – General Recommendations - Watercourses 13

- 13.1 (a) While there is no clear regulation about the distance of new constructions from the
 ocean, the DFO generally recommends that new construction be 15-30m back from the ocean to
 prevent impacts to fish. A larger setback would also be prudent considering a changing climate,
 including sea level rise and increased intensity of storms and associated flooding. We
 recommend that this setback be extended from 7.5m to 15m. Ideally it would extend to 30m,
 however, this would likely require additional research and consultation to determine the
 feasibility and variance requirements.
- 13.1 (b) The provincial Fish Protection Act no longer exists. Reference to legislation needs updating to the Riparian Areas Protection Regulation (under the Riparian Areas Protection Act) and the Water Sustainability Act. This could also include the federal Fisheries Act which was recently updated and includes standards for the protection of fish and fish habitat.
- 13.1 (c) Review the intent of this regulation. RAPR should protect any features defined as streams, the definition of which includes either containing or connecting to fish habitat. If this section is meant to protect non-connected water features they need to be more clearly defined. Examples of this include ponds and wetlands that exist on their own in the landscape. These do provide high value habitat for wildlife but are not considered important to protect fish by provincial or federal policy.

Part 5 – Zones

- 46 (1) This refers to watercourse and creek. Choose one term for all water features to use throughout.
- RS 3 58.1 (4) Change reference from Fish Protection Act to RAPR, and change Streamside Protection Area to Streamside Protection and Enhancement Area.

4.2 DPA 2 Marine Waterfront

Intent and objectives

This DP area aims to manage the design and construction of development on the waterfront. It is primarily focused on public access, views, commercial needs and low impact development. One objective directed at environmental protection includes:

• Integrate development with the Site's natural attributes to reduce negative impacts to coastal ecosystems.

High level recommendations

The following are broad recommendations to update it and improve its effectiveness:

- Consider combining the shoreline content in DP 3 to this DP. The focus of this DP 2 is on the
 design of built features and access for the public, rather than on natural features. However, one
 of the objectives is to protect sensitive ecosystems and natural processes. There is overlap
 between this DP and the shoreline component of DP 3. It is recommended that the guidelines
 and requirements in DP 3 and DP 2 be combined.
- 2. The impacts of climate change on sea level rise should be considered in this DP. Mapping was recently completed by the Cowichan Valley Regional District and could inform this review.

Specific Recommendations for Improvement

The following are recommended updates and considerations within each section of the DP:

Section 2.1

• Either define how to identify natural boundary, refer to the zoning bylaw definition or change this to the highest high tide line.

Section 2.4.1

Include a section that requires restoration opportunities to be identified and pursued.

Section 2.4.8

• Mention natural plant communities and features that provide habitat for wildlife.

4.3 DPA 3 Natural Environment

Intent and objectives

This DP area aims to protect:

- Watercourses that provide fish habitat
- Important wildlife habitat including corridors
- Biodiversity
- Raptors nests
- High value wildlife trees
- Plant communities at risk
- Habitat for species at risk
- Shoreline/intertidal areas
- Groundwater, aquifers and watersheds

High level recommendations

Overall, the intent of this DP is comprehensive and includes most sensitive natural features and functions. The following are broad recommendations to update it and improve its effectiveness:

- 1. Update references to provincial policy and definitions that have changed since this DP was written.
- 2. Update terminology to ensure consistent language is used throughout the DP. There is mixed terminology used throughout which can cause interpretation problems (i.e. watercourse vs stream, wildlife tree vs nest tree).
- Consider adopting wider setbacks for the protection of watercourses. The current riparian setbacks follow the Provincial minimum standards, which some communities feel are too narrow and may not provide the protection that the Municipality is envisioning for all stream corridors.
- 4. Move the marine shoreline areas guidelines to DPA 2 Marine Waterfront. Section 3.4.3 provides guidelines to develop along shoreline areas, but moving them to DPA 2 Marine Waterfront would consolidate all guidelines for both the built and natural environment in one DPA.
- 5. Provide clear definitions of who is qualified to carry out environmental assessments. In particular, define who qualifies as a QEP (Qualified Environmental Professional), tree risk assessor, and a coastal professional.
- 6. Update the environmentally sensitive area mapping. Up to date mapping is key to identifying natural areas requiring protection, and areas where development may occur while minimizing the impact on the natural environment. This mapping is easiest to continually update and share with the public when available in an online mapping system.
- 7. Provide clear guidance for the identification and protection of sensitive habitat and corridors. Relying on QEPs discretion to identify and protect sensitive habitat and corridors for wildlife is vague and unlikely to meet the DP's objective. QEPs work for land developers and can be reluctant to identify habitat areas unless they are clearly defined by the province or municipality.
- 8. Important "wildlife corridors" (as mentioned in the DP) should be defined and mapped. This could be mapped as a Green Infrastructure Network as part of a Biodiversity Conservation Strategy, or on its own.
- 9. Consider providing reporting requirements for QEP submissions. This could include guidance around the content and organization of QEP reports. This helps to ensure consistency between applications and with staff reviews.
- 10. Consider removing the requirement for buffers around protection areas or better define what a buffer is. This section is unclear if it is referring to the setbacks themselves, or a buffer off of the setback that provides a transition area between the protected features and the development. Buffers off of a protected area can be contentious, especially if fencing is to be permanent at this buffer and the area becomes secured as a result. Examples could include: a construction zone requirement 2m outside of the SPEA boundary; tree root protection zones of edge trees based on trunk diameter; edge of invasive species removal and restoration areas.
- 11. Move the broader DP guidelines to the objectives section. Those guidelines, which are broad in nature, will be more suitable as objectives. The guidelines should only include items that can be clearly defined and achieved by an applicant.

- 12. Require an arborist report for all trees that are within ten metres of the Protected Areas. The protection of trees is a clear way to ensure natural areas are being protected and restrict encroachment. These edge trees are sensitive to damage from development if works encroach into their critical root zone. Some trees require protection up to 10 m from the trunk in order to maintain healthy root structures. An arborist report will identify required root protection zones where protection measures should be implemented and any existing or potential hazard trees which should be removed. The DP currently refers to hazard trees and calls for the protection of the drip line of trees. Requiring an arborist report if work is proposed adjacent to ESA areas with a clear set of guidelines or terms of reference will enable the Municipality to ensure that retained trees are safely protect and that the applicant avoids creating new hazards.
- 13. Specify the tree risk assessment qualifications required, and tree risk assessment procedure and risk thresholds for identifying hazard trees in ESA areas.
- 14. Develop clear restoration requirements for development in or adjacent to natural areas and riparian setbacks, or where unauthorized development or disturbance has occurred in the protected area. This should include the removal of non-compliant structures, invasive species, and garbage, and replanting with native trees and understory vegetation.
- 15. Review exemptions to ensure all environmental values are being protected through development.

Specific Recommendations for Improvement

The following are recommended updates and considerations within each section of the DP.

Section 3.1

- Review the definition of a stream to ensure it is consistent with provincial definitions.
 Watercourses/streams are defined differently under different provincial policies (the Water Sustainability Act, WSA, and Riparian Areas Protection Regulation, RAPR). This definition should include what lower value features are included and some parameters for QEPs and applicants.
 Some smaller features and low value ditches could be excluded. Ensure the terms 'aquatic systems', 'stream' and 'watercourse area' are all defined properly.
- Update wording for where the watercourse guidelines apply to:
 - o Include all watercourses, whether they are on the OCP map or not.
 - Remove the wording "only if determined by the municipality." If a stream exists on or near a property, mapped or not, it should be protected. Unmapped connected streams are still protected under RAPR.
- Change the measurement point for watercourses to the top of bank or, if not existing, the stream boundary. Meet or exceed RAPR requirements for the assessment area.
- Consider combining the requirements for Coastal Areas with DP2. Definition should be clarified
 for the line to be measured back from. With sea level rise, the term often used now is the
 highest high tide mark instead of the natural boundary. This line can be difficult to identify
 where there are influences of wave action and rocky shorelines.

- Update the wording around species at risk. A QEP can't designate a species at risk and can only refer to provincial and federal designations.
- Update the definition of wildlife tree it is not defined in the Wildlife Act. Change the definition to designate the nest of an eagle, heron, osprey, falcon, or burrowing owl.
- Define a QEP

Section 3.2

- Remove the term "or similar professional". This leaves an opening to remove trees without proper justification. The determination of hazardous trees should require an assessment by a qualified ISA Tree Risk Assessor.
- Consider removing or amending exemption G, "Subdivision of lands containing a portion of the DPA where all of the following apply". The current exemption does not require the land be protected through the development process other than through the covenant. This could lead to degradation of the natural environment prior to the covenant or dedication being in place, and does not provide staff with the tools to require its restoration.

Section 3.3

- Strengthen language from "development activity to avoid encroaching into protected areas" to "must not encroach".
- Change variance requirement of providing equal or greater areas of ecological value to net gain of habitat area. Value is subjective and changes over time, while habitat area is quantifiable.
- Clearly define buffers and the location of fencing and land dedication.
- Expand specifications for monitoring and include requirements to submit summary reports to the municipality.
- Replace the tree crown drip line with a minimum distance and trunk diameter multiplier (ex. 10x diameter at breast height, DBH). Tree crown drip line is often not adequate to protect the critical root zone of trees.
- Specify a threshold to the current tree risk assessment methods for trees to be allowed to be removed from within protection areas, per the International Society of Arboriculture's Tree Risk Assessment Qualification.
- Specify a required survivability of plants and trees in restoration areas after a set number of years before bonding is released. For example, 100% survival of trees and 80% or 90% survival of understory vegetation is a common requirement in other DPs.
- Require monitoring and removal of invasive species over a specified monitoring period that corresponds with plant survivability (typically 3-5 years). Invasive species must not make up more than 5% of plant species in restored areas.
- Update references to the 17 best management practice documents listed (3.3.3). These should be updated periodically.

Section 3.4

- Provide clear guidance on the no net loss requirement for "environmentally sensitive terrestrial ecosystems." This is currently not clearly defined and is open to interpretation.
- Provide a clear definition of "endangered Douglas-fir forests" and "Garry Oak meadow ecosystems"
- Consider developing a Green Infrastructure Network for the Municipality to identify priority corridors and habitat patches. It is difficult to require protection of habitat linkages without identifying them as part of a Municipality-wide network.
- Move broad guidelines to the objectives section. Some guidelines are broad and read like
 objectives (e.g. "protect and enhance biodiversity within terrestrial ecosystems" and "protect
 ecological values"). As guidelines, it would be difficult to demonstrate how they have been
 achieved.
- Consider moving the guidelines for shoreline protection to DP 2 Marine Waterfront.
- Define who is a "qualified coastal professional".
- Rewrite the Nest Tree Protection Areas section of the DP (3.4.4) and expand it to require bird nest surveys prior to the removal of trees in the bird nesting season (March-August). The intent of this section of the DP appears to be to protect raptors and heron nests, however, all nests are protected under the Wildlife Act, including song birds.
- Require that a raptors/heron nest construction plan be developed by a QEP.

4.4 DPA 4 Natural Hazard

Intent and objectives

This DP area aims to regulate development on steep slopes, floodplains and fire hazard areas. It protects structures and ensures stable building sites and mitigates hazards while preserving environmental features and functions. It also prevents personal injury.

High level recommendations

The following are broad recommendations to update it and improve its effectiveness:

- 1. The professional requirements and standards should be more specific to the topic. State which professionals can sign off on which reports. As an example, the qualifications are different for assessing tree risk compared to flood hazard or wildfire.
- 2. Clearly specify which reports and assessments are required in which areas. This DP includes three very different risk types.
- 3. Add some clarification on the municipality's position to balance wildfire risk against tree preservation. While steep slope and floodplain requirements help protect environmental values, the Wildfire requirements do not as they promote the removal of conifer trees.
- 4. Review and update mapping of natural hazard areas. Current mapping is outdated and needs improvement.

Specific Recommendations for Improvement

The following are recommended updates and considerations within each section of the DP:

Exemptions - General

- Define qualified professionals for risk mitigation
- Define the standard to be used to determine a hazardous tree and the qualifications required to determine this (i.e. ISA standards, certified tree risk assessor)
- Remove one of the fence building sections it is mentioned twice in sections (c) and (g).

General Guidelines

- Specify what reports are needed for the different hazards. The guidelines currently specify that
 a geotechnical assessment is required. However, some areas may be in floodplain or wildfire
 areas and do not have steep slopes which would require a geotechnical report.
- Move the requirement for a geotechnical assessment down to Section 4.3.1 Steep Slope Lands. It does not need to apply to other hazard areas.

General Guidelines - 4.3.3 Floodplain Lands

- Reference Section 11 of the WSA for emergency flood work.
- Consider updating to include pre-determined setbacks, or referring to the zoning bylaw for floodplain setbacks. The current guidelines do not have pre-determined setbacks. They could be provided and changeable by a QEP report as relevant.
- Specify that the setback cannot be reduced to below the minimum standard of the Provincial Riparian Areas Protection Regulation. Confirm that a geotechnical report is what is required for flood control.
- Reword the sentence in (g) iv. to specify that development will not cause filling in beyond the area approved for the development.

4.5 Subdivision Bylaw 1851

Intent and objectives

This bylaw regulates how lands are subdivided. This includes the layout of properties, roads, drainage and other infrastructure. It includes the protection of streams and the ocean, and their setbacks, as well as the provision of lands for walkways and public access to water features and the ocean.

High level recommendations

The following are broad recommendations to update it and improve its effectiveness:

1. This bylaw is intended to protect water features and the ocean as well as their setbacks during subdivision. The terms used for water features should be standardized to be the same as the other municipal policies (i.e. watercourse or stream).

- 2. Consider including reference to dedication of not only lands for stream setbacks but also sensitive natural areas as defined in DP 3 Natural Environment. These should be in addition to lands used as urban parks, but could include lands to be used as natural parks.
- 3. Include reference to tree preservation. Consider introducing a tree bylaw to help prevent tree clearing ahead of the application process.
- 4. Consider adding a requirement for applicants to submit a tree survey and Tree Management Plan, to be approved ahead of tree clearing.
- 5. Consider incorporating tree planting standards to the Engineering Standards Road Design standard drawings.

Specific Recommendations for Improvement

The following are recommended updates and considerations within each section of the Subdivision Bylaw.

- 30 Reword this to use the same terms for water features as the Zoning Bylaw and DPs. Add ocean as one of the water bodies. Change the setback to being measured either from the natural boundary or the riparian/marine setback as per DPs 2 and 3.
- 31 Reword this to use the same terms for water features as the Zoning Bylaw and DPs.

4.6 Parks & Public Places Regulation Bylaw 3626

Intent and objectives

This Bylaw specifies what activities are permitted within parks and at what hours of the day. It permits homeless people to sleep overnight under certain conditions, and restricts commercial activities without permits and defines the requirements for a park or facility use permit. It also enforces a general set of rules of behavior and conduct. Fire risk is addressed by restricting open fires and ignition sources, including fireworks. Municipality bylaw officers can enforce this bylaw by impounding items that contravene the bylaw, removing people from the park and issuing maximum fines of \$1,000 per day.

High level recommendations

The bylaw seems to adequately address areas of concern including behavior, fire risk, vehicles and overnight camping. No broad recommendations are provided.

Specific Recommendations for Improvement

The following are recommended updates and considerations within each section of the bylaw:

Definitions

 Update the environmentally sensitive areas definition to include the Marine Waterfront DP areas.

General provisions and restrictions

Replace the word flower with shrub or plant in 2 (b).

4.7 Soil Removal and Deposit Bylaw, 2009

Intent and objectives

This bylaw regulates how soil is removed, transported and deposited. This is to protect soils and their importance to the integrity and health of natural areas, and the agricultural industry. It manages the risk of erosion and sediment transport to environmentally sensitive areas. It prevents changes to natural hydrology and protects the stability of slopes. It also mitigates against dust and noise that could impact residents' health and wellbeing. This bylaw provides additional protection to riparian areas and waterbodies beyond the DP and development permit process.

This bylaw is directed at the movement of large volumes of soil from larger parcels, and from areas within the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR). Smaller volumes of soil movement outside of the ALR, as well as on lots smaller than 1ha are exempt from the bylaw. If larger amounts of soil are being moved from smaller lots outside of the ALR, it is assumed that its movement would be regulated as part of a development as approved by the Municipality.

High level recommendations

The following are recommended updates and considerations within each section of the bylaw:

- 1. Review the minimum volume of soil and size of land parcel that must comply with this bylaw. Ensure the bylaw's current size requirements are sufficient to capture all significant soil removal and deposit activities.
- 2. Consider adding a requirement as part of the permit that soils deposited are free of invasive species. The spread of invasive plant species is a growing concern and is often caused by the movement of soils. There is no soil test for the presence of invasive species. This would be something that staff or QEPs may visibly see in the soil and could then act upon.

Specific Recommendations for Improvement

The following are recommended updates and considerations within each section of the DP: Section 3

- Add that in addition to a development permit, a DP 3 approval is required and must comply with the Riparian Areas Protection Regulation which defines development as the movement of soil (5).
- Consider specifying a minimum standard for topsoil quality and depth, and more details for replanting with native plants, in addition to currently guidelines that Require topsoil to be placed over the area and it be planted or sown with grass (6).

Section 4

- Consider reducing the exemptions for volumes for soil movement outside of the ALR, which currently exempts soil movement if it is an amount less than a certain volume (300m³ per parcel or 60m³ per acre per year). This is a large amount of soil. We would be interested to hear feedback from staff on these thresholds.
- Consider reducing the size of exempted parcels, instead of the current exemption for parcels <1 ha in size.

Section 13

• The security may be too low to prevent infractions. Consider increasing securities so as to encourage compliance.

5.0 Appendix 2 – High-Level Policy Gap Analysis

The content below is intended to provide an overview of the high-level policy gap analysis for various bylaws, management plans, local area plans, and policies that are relevant to this review.

Bylaws:

- 1. Blasting Bylaw 3255
- 2. Building Bylaw 2003
- 3. Campground Bylaw 2140
- 4. Fire Protection Bylaw 3340
- 5. Firearms Bylaw 3077
- 6. Float Home Standards Bylaw 3015
- 7. Forest Use Bylaw 3265
- 8. Mobile Home Parks Bylaw 1775
- 9. Untidy and Unsightly Premises Bylaw 1991
- 10. Waterworks Bylaw 3620

Management Plans:

- 1. Bonsall Creek Watershed Management Plan (2016)
- 2. Cowichan Estuary Environment Management Plan (1987)
- 3. Integrated Forest Resources Management Plan (1981)
- 4. Maple Mountain Management Plan (1992)
- 5. Somenos Marsh Wildlife Society 5 Year Strategy Plan (2017-2022)

Local Area Plans:

- 1. Bell McKinnon Local Area Plan (2018)
- 2. Crofton Community Local Area Plan (2015) & University Village Local Area Plan (2015)
- 3. Chemainus Town Centre Revitalization Plan (2011)

Policies and High-Level Plans:

- 1. Climate Action and Energy Plan (CAEP, under review)
- 2. Development Permit Area 1
- 3. Energy Step Code Rebate Policy (2020)
- 4. Parks and Trails Master Plan (2017)
- 5. Site Adaptive Planning in Urban Rural Interface (2019)
- 6. Trail Maintenance Policy (2020)

5.1 Bylaws

Blasting Bylaw 3255

The Blasting Bylaw prohibits blasting without a permit. This bylaw requires qualifications and fees to obtain a blasting permit. It specifies blasting restrictions for the timing, proximity to land uses and

weather conditions. It requires that notifications be issued and that access near the site be controlled. It also permits the municipality to access a site to enforce the requirements.

It is recommended that:

• The Blasting Bylaw be updated to add restrictions during high to extreme fire hazard.

Building Bylaw 2003

The Building Bylaw regulates construction in North Cowichan to consider the public interest. It describes building permit requirements and defines the role of the building inspector. The building bylaw does not specifically address climate change or the natural environment. It does have some requirements for water conservation, requiring low water consumption toilets and urinals. Local governments are restricted by the Building Act, which precludes them from establishing separate building standards, except through the BC Energy Step Code.

A timeline for implementing Step 2 of the BC Energy Step Code in North Cowichan was established in August 2020, and is required as of May 2, 2021. This timeline should continue to be developed for additional steps of the code.

Campground Bylaw 2140

The Campground Bylaw provides a framework to regulate campgrounds in North Cowichan. The bylaw states that campgrounds cannot be altered without written approval and a permit by the Building Inspector, and includes what is required for a permit application.

The bylaw is effective at establishing buffers around campsites, and designating minimum setbacks from watercourses. It requires structures to be sited 30 m from watercourses when the 200-yr floodplain is unknown, otherwise the setback is based on the 200-yr floodplain. It also sets water, stormwater, and sewage requirements. The bylaw addresses concerns from flooding, requiring a minimum elevation for structures, and multiple requirements to address the risk of fire; however, it does not address tree risk.

It is recommended that the Campground Bylaw:

- Further defines what should be located within campground buffers (i.e. native vegetation).
- Confirm watercourse setbacks are compliant with RAPR, as they appear to be focused on reducing flood risk to the site vs. protecting the watercourse.
- Provide guidance around overall campground layout, including to avoid sensitive habitat, and include goals for vegetation retention.
- Incorporate tree risk assessment, including hazard trees and identifying windfirm edges.

Fire Protection Bylaw 3340

The Fire Protection Bylaw prohibits land owners from having conditions on site that are considered a fire hazard including the accumulations of combustibles. It ensures the security of burned buildings. This

bylaw regulates incineration on a property and requires all intentional fires to be supervised. It provides restrictions and requirements for open burning and wood burning appliances and requirements for fire pits.

The Fire Protection Bylaw allows the municipality to ensure that forestry and industrial activity does not cause debris accumulations. In addition, it gives the municipality power to enter a property to mitigate fire hazard if the owner fails to. It recognizes and provides permission to the municipality to fight fires on private property, allows the fire department to respond to non-fire related emergencies, and empowers the municipality to order an open burning ban.

It is recommended that:

- The Fire Protection Bylaw be updated to refer to Firesmart standards and the CWPP once adopted as the standards to achieve on properties.
- The identification of fire hazard be better defined so the public can understand what may be considered an infraction. It is currently dependent on the opinion of the local assistant. This could.

Firearms Bylaw 3077

The Firearms Bylaw regulates the use of bows and firearms. It creates designated areas where hunting can occur, including maps of the areas. Overall, this bylaw appears to be effective at limiting hunting to designated areas.

It is recommended that:

 Assuming that the community still supports the use of the designated lands for hunting, then no recommended changes.

Float Home Standards Bylaw 3015

The Float Home Standards Bylaw regulates float home requirements and applies to all areas of land and water within North Cowichan, and extends 1000 feet beyond the foreshore highwater mark. Float homes needs a building permit to moor in a marina, and must meet the requirements set out in the bylaw by 2001 (either mooring after that time or meeting specific requirements by then if moored earlier). The home must be buoyant, able to handle winds without sinking or dislodging, comply with electrical and gas safety requirements.

The bylaw requires a sewer connection when available or approved toilet system to ensure the waste is not released into the environment, which is likely sufficient to inhibit dumping and protect water quality from float homes. The bylaw allows for penalty fees, which likely improves enforcement.

It is recommended that:

• The location of float homes is selected to avoid sensitive foreshore habitat.

Forest Use Bylaw 3265

This Forest Use Bylaw applies to the municipal forest reserve and other municipal lands used for forest purposes. It prohibits certain forest uses and damaging activities, and serves to protect the natural areas from disturbances that have not been approved and permitted under the bylaw.

Overall, this bylaw appears to be effective at addressing the relevant environmental components considered for this review. It protects against impacts to the forest in the reserve and other municipal lands used for forestry. It prevents open fires, which is critical to prevent wildfires. Finally, it protects the integrity of natural forests, which is critical to mitigate against climate change impacts, and it allows for fines to be issued under the Offence Act.

The effectiveness of the monitoring and enforcement for this bylaw could be challenge for the large, forested areas it regulates. A review could be done to determine how often infractions are committed, how many fines are issued and if there are enough resources for monitoring and enforcement.

Mobile Home Parks Bylaw 1775

The Mobile Home Parks regulates the parking of mobile homes and creation of mobile home parks. The development of mobile home parks requires consideration of proposed water supply, sewage disposal, wastewater disposal and garbage disposal. Maps included in the development process must show watercourses and steep slopes & banks, and consider flooding and erosion in the development.

The bylaw is likely moderately effective at minimizing impact to the natural environment. It minimizes pollution and waste, but does not require vegetation retention or placing parking pads away from sensitive areas. It addresses many risks associated with the natural environment, requiring vertical and horizontal setbacks from water features and addressing fire risk reduction. It does not include setbacks off of steep slopes, but this is covered under DPA 4.

It is recommended that the Mobile Homes Parks Bylaw:

- Provide guidance around overall park layout, including to avoid sensitive habitat, goals for vegetation retention, and buffer requirements between parking pads.
- Incorporate tree risk assessment, including hazard trees and identifying windfirm edges.

Untidy and Unsightly Premises Bylaw 1991

The Untidy and Unsightly Premises Bylaw addresses provincially designated noxious weeds, as defined under the Weed Control Act. It requires noxious weeds are cleared and are not allowed to accumulate on private property. However, using the term "noxious weeds" may exclude many regionally significant invasive plant species.

The bylaw provides North Cowichan with the tools to ensure noxious weeds are removed from private property at the owner's expense. However, the bylaw does not address public property, invasive species

(not all of which are included under noxious weeds), newly introduced species that have the potential to become invasive, or restoration requirements.

It is recommended that:

- The municipality expands the scope of the bylaw, or develop a separate bylaw, that includes
 invasive species rather than just noxious weeds, with specifics on how these are designated.
 This would be an opportunity for North Cowichan to develop a list with the most relevant
 invasive species to North Cowichan, focusing and prioritizing invasive species and noxious weed
 management. This could be done in consultation with the Environmental Advisory Committee.
- Proper disposal of invasive species and noxious weeds be addressed. Section 3 regarding dumping could be updated to include the dumping of invasive species, as many can spread through illegal dumping of garden waste.
- A policy of Early Detection Rapid Response (EDRR) be initiated to detect and manage new infestations and new invasive species.
- The municipality undertakes a mapping exercise of public lands to map the extent of invasive species, providing a baseline of existing infestations.
- North Cowichan considers developing an Invasive Species Management Plan (ISMP), which
 would use the baseline mapping to develop a plan to manage and prioritize treatment of
 invasive species in North Cowichan.
- Restoration requirements be developed. Invasive species are likely to recolonize an area after removal if the area is not replanted with native plants. Good start to native plants here:
 https://www.northcowichan.ca/EN/main/departments/environmental-services/native-plants/Native_Drought_Tolerant_Gardening.html

Waterworks 3620

The Waterworks Bylaw regulates water access, usage and pricing. It requires water meters be installed on new and upgraded connections, and sets out water conservation measures.

The bylaw is effective at addressing the component of the natural environment it aims to – water. It addresses water conservation measures and requires metering going forward on all new builds and retrofits. The bylaw allows the municipality to enforce non-compliance with water conservation measures and apply fines.

It is recommended that:

North Cowichan consider updating the fee schedule bylaw to charge for use. The bylaw is set up
to charge for use, but the fees bylaw appears to charge by use only when over an "allowed"
amount. Pricing by use on a sliding scale can encourage conservation.

5.2 Management Plans

Bonsall Creek Watershed Management Plan (2016)

This plan provided a description of the hydrology, aquatic ecology and land use in the Bonsall Creek watershed, which covers a large area of North Cowichan. The plan recognises restoration efforts and the importance of stewardship groups for watershed management, and a discussion on climate change impacts.

This is comprehensive report that includes balanced discussion of conservation and land use trade offs. Actions items to manage the watershed are clear and prioritised with justification.

It is recommended that:

• As the plan is implemented and updated in the future, it includes some analysis of adjacent terrestrial conditions and their impacts on the watershed.

Cowichan Estuary Environmental Management Plan (1987)

This report summarizes impacts to and recommends actions to mitigate impacts from industry to the Cowichan river estuary. It is a high value estuary for salmon and shorebird habitat. It recognizes agreements with major industrial companies to mitigate their impacts in this area. This focusses largely on log storage leases. Areas are designated for use in the estuary including industry/commercial, agriculture, habitat and conservation and recreation. A project review process is specified to ensure new uses are reviewed and approved. The estuary is located just south of North Cowichan outside of its boundaries, but discusses industrial activities within the municipality.

This management plan is several decades old, and as a result it references old agreements and legislation such as the Environment Management Act. Some of the industrial parties no longer exist, while news ones are likely active in the estuary.

It is recommended that:

• The municipality work with the province and other stakeholders to update the Management Plan.

Integrated Forest Resources Management Plan (1981)

This plan from 1981 focuses on the timber reserves and sustainable management of the municipal forest reserve. It focuses on timber inventory, growth and yield and silviculture planning to 2020. The forest reserve covers 25% of the land base, and timber extraction in the forest has become increasingly controversial.

An Interim and Long-Term Forest Management Plan for the Municipal Forest Reserve are currently being developed and include a public consultation process currently underway. The plan update aims to balance uses, including timber harvesting, recreation values and ecological stewardship.

There is an interim and Long-Term Forest Management Plan currently being developed for the Municipal Forest Reserve. As part of these updates it is recommended that:

- Forest planning concepts be updated to more current practices.
- The implications of wildfire risk be included as a consideration during planning and operations.

Maple Mountain Management Plan (1992)

This report summarizes findings from public consultation which explored uses of this forest area apart from traditional forestry and timber extraction. It provides a summary of each resource use and the feedback from the consultation process. Apart from forest management, the highest value resource uses were identified by the public as aesthetics, hiking and recreation activities. Sensitive forest communities were identified for preservation, including Gary oak ecosystems. Alternative lower impact harvesting methods were recommended.

The report provides a good summary of public opinion in 1992. Public perception of forestry and non timber resources values can be expected to have changed over the past 30 years. In addition, it doesn't recognize risks associated with forested areas such as wildfire, tree hazard or the changes in forests resulting from climate change. Mountain biking is also a fast growing sport that is popular in this area and may warrant consideration for the management of the forested area (as documented on mountain bike trail sites including "Trailforks").

While this provides valuable insight into the vision of the community in the 1990's, it my no longer provide much guidance around the current community. Recreational aspects of this pan are covered in the Parks and Trails Master Plan, which should likely be the primary guiding document around parks and recreation in this area.

Somenos Marsh Wildlife Society 5 Year Strategy Plan (2017-2022)

The 5 Year Strategic Plan provides a clear vision and guiding principles for the rehabilitation, protection and management of the Somenos Marsh Conservation Area and the Somenos Marsh Wildlife Society. It sets out guidance for the operation of the Society and to recognize its key relationships in the achievement of its mission. The goals, objectives and actions set out important priorities for the restoration, research and monitoring in the Conservation Area.

The strategic plan builds on the 2001 Management Plan which was developed by Ducks Unlimited and the Somenos Streeting Committee. The strategic plan is well-organized, and the continued management of the area by the Society and the committee is a great example of collaborative efforts including First Nations to manage a sensitive ecosystem.

5.3 Local Area Plans

There are four official Local Area Plans (LAPs) in North Cowichan: The Bell McKinnon LAP (2018), the Crofton Community LAP (2015), the University Village LAP and the Chemainus Town Centre Revitalization Plan (2011). North Cowichan's LAPs provide a sense of the values of each neighbourhood, and some of their environmental protection goals, as well as good policies to protect and enhance the natural environment, particularly through the identification and protection of environmentally sensitive areas and the setting of related targets.

The most recent Bell McKinnon LAP provides a good example. It includes principles to integrate ecological design and develop a blue-green infrastructure network in the community. It sets explicit targets and metrics to guide the implementation of its goals and principles, including canopy cover and effective impervious areas targets, and provides recommendations to improve energy efficiency and develop a connected network of green space.

5.4 Policies & Plans

Climate Action and Energy Plan (currently under review)

This plan recognizes the changes in the climate and the municipality's commitment to reduce their green house gas emissions. It provides a summary of existing and expected energy consumption and provides a plan to conserve energy, reduce emissions and to address the expected impacts of climate change.

The plan includes a commitment to the BC Climate Action Charter which includes becoming climate neutral with respect to municipal operations by 2012. This plan was developed after this year in 2013. It recommends that the OCP adopt a target of reducing emission to 33% under 2007 levels by 2025. It identified the majority of emissions (76%) coming from transportation. Most recommended actions focus on changes to transportation as well as making development more energy efficient and switching to more sustainable energy sources.

The discussion of climate change impacts include those that affect the natural environment such as wildfire, sea level rise, storms, drought and temperature extremes. These impacts are prioritised and current approaches to manage the risks are summarised. No detailed recommendations are made for strategies to mitigate the risk of climate change on the natural environment. The only action that relates directly to the natural environment includes increasing North Cowichan's tree cover. Options for an urban forest strategy and tree bylaw are discussed as well as incentives to plant trees on private property.

Updates are underway to improve greenhouse gas modeling, the municipal emissions reduction goals, review and reschedule projects, and develop an implementation and monitoring framework.

It is recommended that the plan update:

- Prioritises the recommendation to develop an urban forest strategy and tree bylaw. Adopt targets for tree canopy cover by land use type.
- Includes more detailed actions to address impacts on the natural environment such as sea level rise, drought, temperatures, wildfire, storms, forest pest and disease and invasive species.

Development Permit Area 1

Development Permit Area 1 - General regulates development to meet five objectives: the site choice and efficient land use, mobility, site design and landscaping, infrastructure and servicing impacts, and building form and character. The DP encourages site level planning to preserve environmentally and archeologically significant lands and to avoid hazard lands. It also encourages development in designated growth centres as well as the retention of existing landforms, biodiversity and vegetation.

While DP 1 includes key environmental objectives, it does not define specific goals or requirements to achieve the objectives. This lack of details can keep things flexible, but also makes enforcement difficult for the municipality. It also touches on wind hazard, while other hazards are covered under DP 4 – Hazard Lands.

It is recommended that:

- Ensure the wind hazard provisions are compliant with DP 4 Hazard Lands.
- More specific environmental requirements be introduced related to the stated environmental
 objectives, as the environmental DPA 3 doesn't apply to the entire municipality. These could
 include requirements such as developing away from ESAs, identifying targets for pervious
 surfaces, protecting a % of natural areas in all new greenfield development, etc.
- The Municipality consider connectivity from a species movement perspective as well as from a mobility perspective. These frameworks can be complimentary.
- More guidance be provided on GHG reduction design strategies, or reference to the Step Code.

Energy Step Code Rebate Policy

The Energy Step Code Rebate Policy is a council policy that encourages voluntary participation in the BC Energy Step Code in advance of mandatory requirements. It provides rebates associated with implementation of the BC Energy Step Code, increasing the rebate with increasing efficiencies or "steps".

The rebate provides incentives to improve energy efficiencies for "Part 9" buildings (i.e. single-family homes). However, these incentives are too low to cover the costs associated with meeting the requirements and the associated reporting to prove that the code requirements have been met. It will likely subsidize houses that were planning on meeting the requirements but are unlikely to be high enough to encourage houses that were not already looking into energy efficiencies. This policy is also only directed at single-family homes and does not support energy use reductions in multi-family homes.

It is recommended that the Municipality:

- Consider increasing the rebates to better cover the costs associated with meeting the requirements and expanding it to multi-family homes.
- Develop and publicise a timeline to implement the BC Energy Step Code in North Cowichan. Step
 2 will be implemented as of May 1, 2021. It is expected that step 3 will be mandatory in the BC
 Building Code in 2022. The Municipality should consider implementing further Step
 requirements in the future, and exploring the possibility of implementing higher step
 requirements for new development through the rezoning process.

Parks and Trails Master Plan

The Parks and Trails Master Plan guides the development and management of municipal parks and trails. It includes a goal to conserve and restore the function of natural habitat and ecosystems, and to contribute to the connectivity of those areas within the region with the goal of providing continuous access.

The Master Plan sets out good guidance to protect and restore the municipality's existing green network of environmentally sensitive areas, wetlands, riparian and river corridors, steep slopes and forest patches. It includes actions to manage invasive species in municipal parks and along trails.

It is recommended that:

• The Master Plan be updated over time to keep the green network map up-to-date, for example to maintain its consistency with OCP map 7 (Environmentally Sensitive Areas).

Site adaptive planning in urban rural interface (2019)

This Council Policy identifies specific properties as being within the Urban-Rural Interface Area, which are likely to be proposed for future development. It approves a more detailed analysis process for these lands during a development application to ensure environmental, hazard and local character values are addressed. It requires staff to pursue a planning process called "demonstrative site adaptive planning analysis" for development applications on these designated lands.

The Council Policy does not include specifics or references for what is required to be included in this planning analysis, and as a result may be too broad to be enforceable in its current form.

It is recommended that:

• The Council Policy be updated to add guidelines to be followed for the demonstrative site adaptive planning analysis. The guidelines should reference specific concerns to be addressed, i.e. wildfire risk, windthrow and tree risk, as well as flooding and sea level rise.

Trail Maintenance Policy 2020

The Trail Maintenance Policy Describes the trails to be maintained within the municipal boundaries and the level of maintenance to which they are to be sustained at. The policy identifies and prioritizes trail

maintenance based on cost, safety, budgets, personnel, and the environment. It describes the different trail types, including use, trial material and height. Maintenance activities includes inspections, clearing, remediation, re-routing, decommissioning and issue tracking.

The policy effectively manages and prioritizes trail maintenance, and protects natural resources within the immediate vicinity of trails. It sets specific roles, responsibilities and timelines for implementation. However, the policy does not define inspections or safety standards (i.e. who is inspecting for what). In addition, Priority D trails are not reviewed. Currently no trails are identified as Priority D in the Policy; however, this should be revisited if trails are designated Priority D in the future.

It is recommended that:

- Inspection and safety standard requirements are described in the policy or in a supplemental implementation document to ensure the intended standards are being met.
- The municipality considers identifying the required qualifications to carry out the assessment (i.e. if they need to be a QEP such as a Registered Professional Forester, or an ISA Certified Arborist, and a Certified Tree Risk Assessor, etc.)